TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY School of Information Technologies

Mohammad Momin Reja 194221IVGM

Developing e-Ticket System for the Public Transport Sector of Bangladesh

Master's thesis

Supervisor: Valentyna Tsap M. Sc. Eng.

Tallinn 2021

TALLINNA TEHNIKAÜLIKOOL Infotehnoloogia teaduskond

Mohammad Momin Reja 194221IVGM

Bangladeshi ühistranspordisektori e-pileti süsteemi arendamine

Magistritöö

Juhendaja: Valentyna Tsap M. Sc. Eng.

Author's Declaration of Originality

I hereby certify that I am the sole author of this thesis. All the used materials, references to the literature and the work of others have been referred to. This thesis has not been presented for examination anywhere else.

Author: Mohammad Momin Reja

10.06.2021

Abstract

With the blessings of ICT, the use of e-Ticket can change the service quality of any public service, especially the Public Transport Sector. Bangladesh is facing lots of issues in the payment system in the public transport sector. Even though there has a fixed amount of fare, the company owner earns more money forcefully from the passengers. People are highly dissatisfied with the service and the Government because of the poor service in the public transport sector. Even Government loses lots of reviews from this sector because there is no one accountable for the problems. The only ICT-enabled solution like e-Ticketing which saves service delivery time and cost can change the overall system. In the e-Ticketing system, passengers will pay the ticket price electronically by using the RFID card or QR code. This study was conducted to propose the digital E-Ticketing system to upgrade the manual payment/fare collection system to gear up into a new dimension. Based on 100 samples, the study revealed that most of the people are dissatisfied with the manual payment system, and 50% of people are also willing to use the prepaid payment system using e-Ticket.

Index Terms- Public Transport, Design Science, Good Governance, NPM, Change Management, E-Ticket, RFID, QR Code, Transparency.

This thesis is written in English and is 87 pages long, including 9 chapters and 32 figures.

Acknowledgment

First and foremost, I humbly express my most profound sense of gratitude to the Supreme arbiter, Almighty Allah, for enabling me to complete my research successfully. Secondly, I wish to express my sincere appreciation to my supervisor Valentyna Tsap, Researcher, Institute of Information Technology, Tallinn University of Technology, for her muchappreciated encouragement and wise guidance. It was tough to complete this thesis without her great advice and insightful comments, which have enriched my work.

In addition, I would also like to thanks my dear friend Maria Lourdes Bacud for her constructive criticism and practical suggestions. I am also thankful to my younger cousin Shohan and Munia for their helpful support in making sense of what I have accomplished. The support from my friends and classmates in Estonia has brought me an immense motivation to pursue and not to give up on every hurdle faced while writing this study.

I am grateful to my parents for their immeasurable sacrifice, blessings, and constant inspiration throughout my life, which led me to all of my success in life. Finally and most importantly, I am sincerely indebted to my loving and supportive wife, Umme Sayma Busra, who provided unending support and inspiration. From the very beginning of this research work, she has always been with me with her helpful advice and valuable suggestions.

Mohammad Momin Reja

List of Abbreviations and Terms

e-Ticket	Electronic Ticket
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
ID	Identification
NID	National Identity
QR	Quick Response
RFID	Radio Frequency Identification
DSR	Design Science Research
IT	Information Technology
DSRIS	Design Science Research in Information Science
KII	Key Informant Interview
IFA	Institute of Financial Accountants
NPM	New Public Management
PROSCI	Professional and Science
SHRM	Society for Human Resource Management
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
DMIC	Delhi Mumbai Industrial Corridor
EU	European Union
eID	Electronic Identity
V2I	Vehicle-to-Infrastructure
V2V	Vehicle-to-Vehicle
e-Ticket	Electronic Ticket
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
ID	Identification
NID	National Identity
QR	Quick Response
RFID	Radio Frequency Identification
DSR	Design Science Research
IT	Information Technology

DSRIS	Design Science Research in Information Science
KII	Key Informant Interview
IFA	Institute of Financial Accountants
NPM	New Public Management
PROSCI	Professional and Science
SHRM	Society for Human Resource Management
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
DMIC	Delhi Mumbai Industrial Corridor
EU	European Union
eID	Electronic Identity
V2I	Vehicle-to-Infrastructure
V2V	Vehicle-to-Vehicle
DRT	Demand-Responsive Transport
NFC	Near-field communication
ITS	Intelligent Transportation Systems
FFPT	Free-Fare Public Transportation
SMS	Short Message Service
AFC	Automated Fare Collection
NPS	National Payment Switch
a2i	Access to Information
DMRT	Dhaka Mass Rapid Transit
JICA	Japan International Cooperation Agency
RSTP	Revised Strategic Transport Plan
BRT	Bus Rapid Transit
MRT	Mass Rapid Transit

Table of Contents

Author's Declaration of Originality	3	
Abstract	4	
Acknowledgment	5	
List of Abbreviations and Terms	6	
Table of Contents	8	
List of Figures		
1 INTRODUCTION	. 12	
1.1 Overview of the research	. 12	
1.2 Motivation	. 12	
1.3 Research Questions	. 14	
2. RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY	. 17	
2.1 Design Science Research	. 18	
2.2 Data Sample	. 20	
2.2.1 Sample Size Determination	. 22	
2.2.2 Collection of Primary Information through Online-based Survey	. 22	
2.2.3 Collection of Information through Key Informant Interview (KII)	. 23	
3. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND	. 24	
3.1 Good Governance	. 24	
3.2 New Public Management	. 27	
3.3 Change Management	. 28	
4. STATE OF THE ART	. 33	
4.1 Estonian Public Transport e-Payment	. 35	
4.2 Different Countries e-Ticketing System in Public Transport	. 36	
4.2.1 Belgium	. 36	
4.2.2 Finland	. 37	
4.2.3 Germany	. 37	
4.2.4 China	. 38	
5. BANGLADESH: CURRENT DEVELOPMENT IN E-TICKET SYSTEM	. 39	

6.	RESULTS	. 41
(5.1 Result	. 45
	6.1.1 Current Scenario of Fare Collection System of Public Transport	. 46
	6.1.2 Problems in the Current Payment or Fare Collection System	. 47
	6.1.3 Executing e-Ticket System	. 47
	6.1.4 Benefits of e-Ticket System	. 48
	6.1.5 Challenges to Implementing the e-Ticket System	. 49
	6.1.6 Essential Infrastructure to Develop the e-Ticket System	. 50
7.	PROPOSED MODEL	. 52
,	7.1 System Implementation	. 52
,	7.2 Registration	. 52
	7.2.1 Registration Process for Vehicle Enlist in Transport	. 53
	7.2.2 The Registration process for Card Registration in Sales Point	. 54
	7.2.3 Self Registration Process for Citizens	. 54
,	7.3 Login	. 54
,	7.4 Recharge and Package Selection	. 58
,	7.5 Scan Card or QR Code	. 62
,	7.6 USE Case Diagram	. 64
	7.6.1 Use Case Diagram for Government Transport Authority: Admin	
	(Government)	. 64
	7.6.2 Use Case Diagram for Owner of Vehicle: Admin (Transport Company)	. 65
	7.6.3 Use Case Diagram for a Salesperson in Sales Point: Admin (Salespoint)	. 66
	7.6.4 Use Case Diagram for Passengers: User	. 67
,	7.7 Database Diagram	. 67
8. 4	ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION	. 69
8	3.1 Summary of Findings	. 69
8	3.2 Limitations and Future Work	. 70
9. (CONCLUSION	. 71
RE	FERENCES	. 73
Ap	pendix $1 - Non$ -exclusive licence for reproduction and publication of a graduation	l
the	sis	. 79
Ap	pendix 2 –Questionnaires and Results	. 80
Ap	pendix 3 –Interview Questions	. 87

List of Figures

Figure 1. General Design Cycle of DSR [24]	19
Figure 2. Dhaka City Roadmap	21
Figure 3. Lewin's Change Model [51]	30
Figure 4. McKinsey's 7s Model [51]	31
Figure 5. Leavitt's Extended Model [50]	32
Figure 6. Tallinn Smartcard [57]	36
Figure 7. Thematic Network Model of the Emergent Themes	42
Figure 8. NVivo Tools File View	42
Figure 9. NVivo Tools Code Sample 1	43
Figure 10. NVivo Tools Code Sample 2	43
Figure 11. NVivo Tools Code Sample 3	44
Figure 12. NVivo Tools Chart View	44
Figure 13. Thematic Nodes	45
Figure 14. Professionals Information of Survey Participant	46
Figure 15. Use of Public Transport System	46
Figure 16. Cost of Fare in Week	48
Figure 17. Participants Response about e-Ticket System Benefit	49
Figure 18. User Interface for Registration	53
Figure 19. Activity Diagram of Registration Process	53
Figure 20. User Interface for Login	55
Figure 21. User Interface After Login.	56
Figure 22. Activity Diagram of Login Process	57
Figure 23. Recharge Step 1	59
Figure 24. Recharge Step 2	60
Figure 25. Activity Diagram of Recharge Process	61
Figure 26. QR Code	62
Figure 27. Activity Diagram for Scan	63
Figure 28. Use Case Diagram for Transport Authority	64
Figure 29. Use Case Diagram for Vehicle Owner	65
Figure 30. Use Case Diagram for the Salesperson	66
Figure 31. Use Case Diagram for Passenger	67

Figure 32. ER Diagram

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview of the Research

Today's world's success stories mostly rely upon the blessings of Information and Communication Technology (ICT). Almost all the developed countries are introducing newer technologies to support their citizens to ensure better public service. The key to having better e-government is to digitize the service. The developed Governments are practicing to make the best use of e-service while the developing governments are still trying different strategies. From different research analyses, it is seen that the first and foremost initiative is to introduce electronic id to access all the public service. Bangladesh is also a developing country that has already introduced digital ID cards as NID(National Identity), but from this digital card still, citizens are not getting its full benefits. The top reasons behind this are people are still not aware, and they still do not know the benefits of it. People seem to keep this very securely rather than using it.

From some developed countries, it is seen that they sometimes use a different electronic card to get benefits of public service, like the transport service. In Estonia, there has a travel card for public transport service. I am also focusing on introducing a kind of service by which people of Bangladesh can get the best service from the public transport system, want to develop the public transport service by introducing a digital solution. I will be focusing on introducing an e-Ticket and a QR code solution by which people can travel easily without manual payment.

1.2 Motivation

Bangladesh is the world's most densely populated and developing country all over the world. Within the area of 148,460 square kilometers, there live more than 162 billion people. As time is changing, Bangladesh is also trying to develop each of its public sectors. Each of the public sectors is sunken under tremendous corruption in either its health sector, transport sector, education sector, or any sector. Bangladesh Government is working hard and soul to make a Digital Bangladesh with Vision 2021. Bangladeshi

current ruling party, Bangladesh Awami League who is now in government is working hard so that within 2021 the country will be digitally [42].

In Bangladesh, e-commerce fields e-Payment is widely being used for several years. In July 2011, bKash Limited, Bangladesh, first started a mobile banking service. bKash was created in such a way that everyone, even those without a bank account, can use this financial service via their mobile phone. The value proposition is straightforward: a convenient way to keep money secured and safe, and a very simple way for transferring money and making any kind of payment [22]. As mobile banking started increasing rapidly, e payment in shopping also increased.

But still, digitization is under development, and its progress is very slow. According to the Bangladesh Road Transport Authority record of 2017, there have 294,80,00 registered vehicles in the country and also have a huge number of non-registered vehicles. Most of the vehicles are in the private sector. Each year when there is a fluctuation in oil prices, the transport owner increases the travel rent. And even after a few days, the price is stable the price does not decrease. And all these extra amounts of money are taken by the general people. The Government is concern about the payment system and trying to manage it properly. But because of mismanagement still, the Government can't manage. For this reason, there is a lack of public satisfaction with the transport system. Also, the Government is losing a huge amount of tax. There are also several issues with this transport system. From all this perspective I decided to work in this transport sector. Among all these sectors, if we can digitize the transport sector by introducing e-Ticket like Estonian Bus Cards, it will dramatically change the public transport system and drastically reduce corruption in the transport sector.

It is not possible to make all the vehicles under a government, so in my proposed system, all the private and Government vehicles will be under few companies. As with the Estonian transport system, there will be an electronic Ticket for each people. There will be a Card scanning device on each vehicle. The citizens have to purchase an e-Ticket with different packages (daily, weekly, or monthly). There will be a booth in a different place to recharge the Smart Card. Whenever anyone will purchase a card or recharge the card, the money will be distributed to the company account, and the fixed tax amount will be sent to the government account. The scanning device will be integrated with software, and at the same time, the device will be connected to the internet always. Whenever

anyone scans their e-Ticket, the software will match the identification number with the Government central citizen's database, and it will also check if the card is expired or not. Also, there will be a mobile application that will scan the QR code installed in the vehicle. If anyone does not like to carry an extra card, they can do the same thing with the mobile app. People can either use the smart RFID card or QR code in their smart device. People can recharge their accounts by themselves by login into the transport portal.

This is how the system may work, but the approach might change after proper data collection. The challenges are how securely we can transfer the money to company and Government account, if any device is damaged, how quickly it will be recovered, and another major challenge is how citizens will welcome this new system, how everyone can seamlessly scan the Card. If we can successfully implement this system, it will help each and everyone, and it will help the vehicle owner and also each general people.

So the main target of this research is to introduce a new electronic payment system to facilitate the Bangladesh Public Transport sector. A prototype will be developed which will provide the e-ticketing service for Public Transport.

1.3 Research Questions

The first and foremost important initiative for the research is to figure out the appropriate research questions. This research targets to create a proposed model by answering the research questions. According to my research, there have several challenges to develop and implement such a system. Based on this, the most important concern is the payment system, and later, the other issues are like the Transparency of the system and to develop such a system. Before developing the proposed model I will be seeking the perceptions of current experience and the probable acceptance of newly designed solutions from target users, and this will be validated with the specialist of the specific fields.

With these challenges, below are the research question:

The main research question is:

• How to design and implement the e-Ticket system in Bangladesh?

The main concern of my research is to design and implement an easy and simple electronic payment system that will have acceptance in society. In Bangladesh, people suffer a lot while paying the rent/fare of transport. From all perspectives, the payment

system should be designed in such a way so that all concerning parties are benefitted. Even the technology for the design and implementation should also be up-to-date so that the electronic payment development may be easier and future up-gradation may also be simpler. This research question will be a concern, how the e-ticket system will be designed and how to implement it in Bangladesh Transport Sector.

Regarding the main question, the sub-questions are as follows:

How to Increase the Transparency of e-Ticket in the transport sector?

"Transparency has been defined as the disclosure of information (Egels-Zandén et al., 2015; Doorey, 2011; Mol, 2014) that enables fair competition (Akerlof, 1970), profitable business ventures (Tapscott et al., 2003), and company fulfillment regarding sustainability efforts (Kaptein et al., 2003; Kaynak et al., 2012)" [4]. For developing public service delivery, Transparency has been broadly encouraged [1]. Different countries have their approach to accomplish this goal to increase transparency in the public service sector which should also be considered for the Bangladeshi Public Transport sector. As in the proposed system, there will be a profound change in the payment system, so Transparency is the main concern. When a government operates in an open, widely known, and accepted manner, it is said to be a transparency while sharing information with its citizens [3]. Every necessary initiative should be taken to increase transparency so that the Public Transport Company and the citizens can trust the system and rely on the digital e-ticket system.

• What are the benefits of this proposed solution in the transport sector?

The main target of implementing a new digital system is to get the most benefits from the system. Government, Transport company and the citizens should be benefitted. The Government is losing millions of dollars in taxes from the transport sector, and Travel companies are also losing money. And lastly and most importantly, the citizens are the main victims who are losing money but are not getting the proper service as desired. The hassle of hand-to-hand payment of fare will no longer exist; no bargain with the contractor will exist either. Overall, the system will come up with the best and easier payment system to ensure satisfaction for all concerning parties.

• What is the suitable solution for architecture and design?

This sub-question describes the main queries for such a digital system like e-Ticket in the Bangladesh Transport sector. In the e-Ticket system, there will be options for QR Code scan. This question is one of the top concerns to the main stakeholders, what will be the suitable system, how will be the architectural design, for whom the solution will be developed, and also how to develop the best solution is a matter of great concern.

2. RESEARCH DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

After analyzing the research methodology and taking into account the research topic, Design Science Research is chosen.

In Bangladesh, there has already a digital ID card (NID), but still, citizens are not well aware of the use of this Card. Also yet it is not possible to get all the public services from this Card. So the thoughts and attitudes of the major citizens are very important.

To implement such an e-Ticket system for public transport, it is necessary to know what the thoughts of the citizens about the digital cards for public transport are. So at the same time, it is also important to collect the research data. The online interview can be conducted by one-on-one interview approach.

To accomplish the desired goal of research based on a particular phenomenon, proper research methodology should be chosen from the very beginning of the research. It helps the audience as well as the researchers to understand and identify the overall approach of the research. Even the research conducting persons should be well organized and so that the research does not waste time or money [16].

Anil Kumar Jharotia, From the Tecnia Institute of Advanced Studies, GGSIP University, Delhi, India, defined how important is the method section of any research. From the method section, any research committee can get a clear picture of how the research problems will be tacked, and as well as it shows the whole work plan how the research will be completed [17].

Research methodology might be characterized by how experimentally the research study may be done. Through investigation methodology, the research issues can be unraveled in a more precise way [18].

2.1 Design Science Research

Panos Y. Papalambros mentioned several factors to define and support design Science methodology, what are the products complexity, process design along with the relevant organizations. He also mentioned that it is important to acknowledge the brains behind the intricate design of the goods/products and their users. [19].

DSR is treated as a qualitative research method where the design process is the main object, as it produces information concurrently about the method used to design an artifact as well as the design of the artifact itself [15]. Design science is a method of study that focuses on designing new information technology (IT) artifacts [9, 20]. The DSR is based on the concept of systematic knowledge creation and building to provide new, inventive, authentic, and intriguing facts, or objects to the concerned community [13,20].

Design Science was introduced for research in the information science(IS) domain. The researchers of the 60s and 70s mainly concentrated on natural and social science research based on design science to understand the DSR pattern [21].

For developing the e-Ticket system in the transport sector and for determining and categorizing prospects and difficulties [23], I have chosen the design science methodology. The Design Science approach is learning through building.

For this research purpose, Kuechler and Vaishnavi's General Design Cycle will be used. They found this DR process by studying the Design Science Research in Information Science(DSRIS) [24].



Figure 1. General Design Cycle of DSR [24].

To obtain the possible answers to the research question, the defined process in Figure 1 is treated as an effective process. Before going to the next level at first needs to be aware of the problems.

Hevner et al. said that the Awareness phase must focus on the business problem, and at the same time, it ought to be acknowledgeable. And the solutions based on the awareness phase should review the main discussed issues in the suggestion phase [24].

The awareness phase is the first phase in the design cycle which is the most complex and large. From experienced existing knowledge, we can get figure out the main problem areas. After this stage, the Suggestion phase starts, which leads us to upgrade the current payment system of the public transport and develop the proposed e-Ticket system.

The valuable suggestions will be considered, and the artifacts will be designed. In our case, the e-Ticket system can be treated as the designed artifact. This Development phase is an iterative process. Initial designed application/ software will be validated by several IT professionals of Bangladesh. Based on their comment, further, up-gradation will proceed. Once the e-Ticket system is built, there is a need for evaluation. "Beyond a simple prototype, evaluation confirms a rapid growth regarding the conceptual approach of the research." [24]. Proper evaluation could be conducted by the relevant group of information science and also by the real-world users of the e-ticket solution. According to Skyrius & Bujauskas, the Evaluation phase upsurges the research at the practical level, and the research increases at the industrial level as well [24]. Initially, the e-Ticket system will be launched as a pilot project in few areas of the capital city of Dhaka. After a certain time, the feedback from the real will be collected, and thus the system will be upgraded. For example, after this stage, we can figure out how the people are reacting with the different package types. Based on this we can introduce more packages in the Payment system.

Concludingly, the final results or the conclusions are taken from the IT artifact. On the contrary, since every process can lead to possible repetitions and improvements of the previous/primary steps as portrayed in Fig. 1, the entire process on its own can be considered immensely recurring [25].

The model of Kuechler and Vaishnavi is an iterative process that enables the prospects to modify or update the designed model and theory expansion.

Though Wieringa(2014) and van Aken(2004) has defined Design Knowledge as a holistic and heuristic by its nature, so they concentrated on using in-context validation to explain the progression [26]. Dyb°a et al. (2012) honed in on certain unseen background variables that might impact the problem-solution pair. For this reason, it was almost impossible to prove the impact of the solution. And for this situation, they relied on the heuristic approach [26]. So in our subject of study, we must evaluate multiple problem-solution pairs for getting a better understanding.

2.2 Data Sample

Dhaka, the Capital City of Bangladesh, suffers from a variety of issues as a result of this massive population pressure, including a shortage of housing and other basic amenities, pollution, and, most notably, an inefficient transportation system. On the contrary, the transportation infrastructure has not been maintained. Dhaka now has some of the world's worst traffic jams [77]. This problem is not only in Dhaka but all over the country.



Figure 2. Dhaka City Roadmap

2.2.1 Sample Size Determination

In this study, simple random sampling method will be used. The following statistical formula will be applied for sample size determination:

$$n = \frac{z^2 \cdot p \cdot q \cdot N}{z^2 \cdot p \cdot q + (N-1)e^2}$$

= 96.038~100

Here,

<i>n</i> =	Sample size
N =	Targeted population
<i>e</i> =	Marginal error
<i>p</i> =	Proportion of population with certain characteristics
q =	Proportion of population without certain characteristics $(1-p)$
z =	Level of significance

Given values mentioned in the sampling estimate:

- N = 4565128 (People age between 20-60 years)
- e = 0.1 (10% marginal error)
- p = 0.5
- q = factor q (1-p) = 0.5
- z = 1.96 (at 95% confidence level)

Calculating the values, we get the sample size =97 considering 95% confidence level and 8% marginal error, but for rounding-up as well as more representation of the beneficiaries, the assessment considers a total of 100 respondents as part of a quantitative survey.

2.2.2 Collection of Primary Information through Online-based Survey

Adult citizens of Dhaka who use public transportation daily are target participants of the study. Responses will be gathered from an online survey (Google form) created specifically for this purpose. During the report, the Helsinki Declaration guidelines for human participant testing are followed. The research plans to collect a sample of 100 (approximately) people from which data will be analyzed. The study objective will be stated in the questionnaire during the online survey, and all responses will be obtained with the consent of the respondents. Furthermore, the survey responses would be received anonymously, protecting the respondents' confidentiality. These data will be analyzed through STATA software.

2.2.3 Collection of Information through Key Informant Interview (KII)

Several Key Informant Interview (KII) meetings will be held with related people from the public and private transportation sectors, academia, and other fields. KII will also be conducted with other relevant stakeholders, such as transportation consultants, planners, and researchers, to collect their expert opinions on the studied subject. The data will be collected through a virtual interview session. The interviews will be taken in the native language, so after the interview, they will be transcribed and analyzed. Thematic analysis will be done by using the most popular and effective NVivo tool. Based on the interview, the transcribed results will be divided into several them, and then the analysis will be performed.

3. THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

This chapter represents the theoretical concepts in a more detailed form to describe the core idea in the subject of the thesis. A brief discussion about Good Governance, Public Service Management, and Change Management is shown here. Also, how this theory lies, a proper interconnection for the introduction of the e-ticket is discussed broadly.

3.1 Good Governance

There has no concrete explanation of Good Governance. But we will try to find out the relevant definitions from different scholars thought which will further be helpful to relate the thesis discussion. Whenever introducing a new service in the public service sector, it always tries to focus on providing the best facilities to the citizens. And without ICT Good governance is almost impossible. ICT plays a vital role on this basis.

Neena Jindal et al. mentioned the ICT tools as the vital instruments for developing good governance. The presence of ICT opens new prospects so that Government can manage the process uniquely and more efficiently; they said [27].

Several countries have demonstrated an interest in using information technologies to restructuring various public sectors. And for the development of Government and giant agencies, countries around the world are introducing ICT as a crucial tool [28].

In 1988 Kofi Annan, Former United Nations Secretary-General mentioned good governance as a key that could minimize poverty and foster the growth of every nation [29]. Through the means of the establishment of a standard for good governance, improved service delivery and progressive liability are aimed at while talking about what good governance should consist of. Efficient decisiveness, better usage of resources, progressive accountability for the supervision of resources;

are some of the factors that should be encouraged through effective governance in the public sector. [30].

European Commission enlisted five major fluid governance principles; they are accountability, participation, openness, coherence, and effectiveness [29]. Richard K. Bemile from Methodist University College Ghana mentioned eight major characteristics of good governance, including participatory, agreement situated, responsible, straightforward, responsive, viable and productive, impartial and comprehensive, and the rule of law is followed accordingly [31]. OECD also focused on some specific terms while defining good governance. They were also similar to the previous ones like responsibility, proficiency, responsiveness, straightforwardness, and adequacy, forward vision, and the law rules [29].

Citing Sahni (2003), Adebayo (2014) had come up with some more clear definitions. They describe good governance as a collection of policies, principles, and organizations by which society manages social, political, and economic processes by engaging with the public and private sectors [32]. However, their definition also concentrates on the development of Government.

But if we look into Srivastava's (2009) definition we can realize how good governance could have a greater emphasis on reducing fraud, power misuse, chicanery, and embezzlement of funds [32].

Srivastava (2009) also mentioned, to establish a further betterment inefficiency, legality, and reliability of the system, it refers to the acquisition of the new traits and values of governance. Therefore, a good definition of good governance is an element of the establishment of positive excellencies of organization and end of indecencies of deteriorations. Shortly, what it must contain are the traits of being productive, acceptable and legal administrative system, be people-caring and empathetic. [32].

From the above-mentioned definition, it is easily understood how the studied subject is going to help to establish good governance in Bangladesh. The e-Ticket system has lots of facilities like the public sector service provider should be accountable for any misinterpretation, the travel cost will be open for all, and each citizen will pay the same fare. As I mentioned earlier, the Transport owner nowadays demands the fare as they wish. But in the blessing of the newly introduced e-Ticket, the fare distribution will be transparent; the corruption will be reduced. However, since corruption is

one of the major challenges in the development of every developing nation, such as Bangladesh, we will never be able to eradicate it. From the Nigerian case study in 2014, we can see how they faced challenges to eliminate corruption even with good governance; thus, they mentioned it as one of the most crucial tasks faced by African countries [32].

Still, we may conclude that e-Ticket would aid in the reduction of corruption. As a result, the Government would have a positive reputation among people, increasing public satisfaction. And obviously, this can facilitate the country to develop its socio-economic standing.

Md. Mahedi Hasan et al. from Prime University, Bangladesh, had a simple and greater thought about e-Payment and how this could be a streamline to establish a good government. Say, Epayment is a concept currently that is no longer in a debatable position that demands an improvement in government standards and policies. The primary issue when it comes to key policy considerations is merely the lacking of systematic tax collection in Bangladesh's current public transportation sector. This entire process of collection of the taxes would be more clear and have fewer regulatory requirements under the New Public Management [44].

The word "good governance" should not be seen as a catch-all phrase for a variety of issues. Merilee Grindle from Harvard Kennedy School mentioned governance is generally perceived [33].

Many public services are now accessible online due to developments in ICT. E-Payment is being adopted almost all over the world. Bangladesh is also not different in this perspective. The Government E-payments Adoption Ranking (GEAR) portrays that most governments are focusing on the accessibility of electronic exchange administrations for residents and organizations at various levels. However, they have critical work to do in improving three territories that help e-installments selection, specifically framework, social and financial setting, and strategy/policy [34].

Whenever we are discussing Good Governance, the New Public Management concept comes to mind. However, there may have some differences but are related to each other in terms of improving the efficiency and effectiveness of governance.

3.2 New Public Management

Hood, 1990; Pollitt & Dan, 2011 said that most of the countries in the last four decades had reshaped the public sector using the New Public Management [35]. Nazmul Ahsan Kalimullah et al. (2012) stated good governance as an adaptation of new public management in public administration [43]. They mentioned NPM as a philosophy and a package of specific management methods or techniques to achieve the goal [43].

For the last three decades, the public sector management body has been under several vital changes. As a result, there was a necessity of introducing the New Public Management. Almquist *et al.* (2013) highlighted this issue and also focused that accountability to society [36].

The lack of any systematic, proper tax collection process in Bangladesh's existing public transportation sector is one of the major issues. This tax collection process would be more straightforward and have fewer bureaucratic constraints under the New Public Management.

As mentioned in good governance, the Government itself should be accountable for a change based on the newly introduced e-Ticket. Jagat, Revenio said that the Government itself would be responsible and will serve as the skipper and controller of New Public Management where several topics will be considered such as deregulation, redistribution, governments less interference, the market's utmost importance, and decreased size of Government [37].

This new approach is to moving aways from the traditional administrative mode. Fakhrul Islam(2015) mentioned similar ideas, new open administration addresses a change of public area and its relationship with Government and society [39].

Fatemi and Behmanesh also mentioned that more tasks are now assigned to the private sectors in the new concept of management [37]. So, both public and private organizations will be held accountable.

There may remain several arguments whether to choose public or private management; there have obvious benefits of NPM. During this pandemic, both advantages and disadvantages were reported. The Swedish and the Spanish people blamed the service of contract-out for care homes, whereas the Australian Government earned positive feedback to fight against the pandemic because of the collaboration of public-private partnerships [35].

And in terms of implementation of NPM and to improve performance of deliverable service of the public sector, the ICT has become the key factor [53]. In e-Governance, ICT is used to improve cost-efficiency to provide more appropriate services while still allowing people to access information, allowing a government to become more accountable and transparent [40]. The application of the ICT has been implemented in the different 'devices' of administration strategy, specifically, authority, treasure, and hierarchical limit. [41].

These days, the transformation of administrative services is primarily focused on the use and advancement of e-government to improve public participation by developing mutual information communication through ICT [42].

After discussing all aforementioned ideas from different scholars, we found a good relationship between good governance and NPM based on ICT. It is believed that based on Good Government and New public management, Introducing e-Ticket in the public transportation sector will help us to achieve the thesis study's target.

As the growth of technology is rapid so the development of the overall process should be paced at the perfect speed. And also, as the NPM might also be introduced so, there will raise the issue of Change Management. The processes, technological changes, and overall infrastructure changes will have a great effect on society.

3.3 Change Management

Based on the research study, there will have drastic changes in the different organizations of Bangladesh, including the public-private organizations. The main changes will be found in the Transport Authority. Similarly, adapting to this newly designed e-Ticket system there will also have a great impact on the citizens. In 2018, Maëlezig Bigi et al. had an analysis on ICT and Change Management of both the French public and private sector. They found a different perception among the public and private sector employees. They found that with the change ICT and management, Public sector employees expressed discouragement, while in the private sector, employees reacted positively with involvement and fair work recognition [44].

There have several definitions of Change Management. Motab Raja Aljohani defined Change management is defined as a cluster of skills and abilities which are needed for effective inception and execution of progress [45].

Therefore Muhammad Hashim has defined Change Management in the most simple and easily understandable way. According to him, when any organization plans to amend the recent business process to a newly formed pattern to adapt to the rapid changes for the maximum benefits, then it can be said the Change Management term comes [45]. The process includes the changes of organizational activities as well as the implementation [45].

The above-mentioned definitions are based on Organizational Changes. PROSCI, an expert organization, also focused on organizational changes while defining change management. According to them, Change Management guides how to successfully adopt the organizational changes for success [46].

Maciej Teczke et al. defined it as a systematic approach to improving the environment through the management of citizens, processes, and technology, as well as preserving competitiveness through the alignment of business strategies with external changes [47].

However, SHRM org definition is not specifically focused on any specific organization but a whole environment. According to their definition, Change management is the purposeful procedure and use of data, instruments, and resources to oversee change. The characterization and the welcoming of the corporal plan of action, designs, strategies, and progress susceptible to counteract the transitions in the external setup are also included [48].

To adopt change management, there remain several models which might be implemented based on the studied research. Based on the research context, this will be not only a particular organizational change but also an overall change in different concerning parties, including public, private organizations, and most importantly, to the people. According to research from Forbes in 2016, 38% are willing to adapt to new things. When this 38% of people were given a new idea, they welcomed it, but 62% of people are not willing to leave their current comfort zones [49].

The Department of Human Resources of Manchester Metropolitan University focused on three overlapping aspects while introducing change; they are; people, processes, and culture [70]. So to define any model, we should keep in mind these three aspects. One of the main concerns of this study is to make a transparent e-Ticket system so that people easily rely on it. To make the huge population of Bangladesh adapt to the change is always a great challenge. So keeping in mind this fact, there needs to choose a proper change management model.

For good governance, it is always a challenge to choose the appropriate model of change management. Change management is often an intimidating task because it necessitates the cooperation of the front and backend IT infrastructure of any organization (Apostolou et al.,2011) [50]. Therefore Sushil and Saboohi (2010) mentioned, "Managing e-government is invariably managing change" [50]. Kifle and Low Kim Cheng mentioned to keep in mind while introducing any new changes, and technological modification brings changes in several sectors as the culture, policy, mindset, process, and organizational structure. They mentioned that the changes in innovation acquire changes in strategy, culture, outlook, hierarchical design, and the cycle [50].

Based on the study, we can talk about Lewin's three-step model (Unfreezing, Moving, and Refreeing), where the current state of the process will be changed and finally institutionalize the change into the strategic objective [51].

Fred Nickols mentioned this model as a staged approach. He said that it leads to pondering an arranged way to deal with evolving things. Looking before you jump is typically stable practice[52].



Figure 3. Lewin's Change Model [51]



McKinsey's 7s Model is one of the best examples which follows a long-term strategy [51].

Figure 4. McKinsey's 7s Model [51]

In 1998 Pendlebury et al. designed a model of the Ten Key factors which can be used in any situation of changes, and also it was not mandatory to implement all the processes simultaneously; according to the requirements, the processes can also be implemented separately [47]. The keys are; 1. Vision defining, 2. Catalyzing, 3. Activating, 4. Navigating, 5. Delivering, 6. Involvement, 7. Handling power, 8. Emotions controlling, 9. Training, and 10. Communicating enthusiastically [47].

Another best model could be Leavitt's Extended Model, where they mentioned that technological changes cause process changes as well as changes in cultural structure [50].



Figure 5. Leavitt's Extended Model [50]

4. STATE OF THE ART

The transportation system is one of the most crucial aspects of a country's overall development. Amitabh Kant, CEO, Delhi Mumbai Industrial Corridor (DMIC), agrees that domestic transportation is the primary trait when it comes to economic betterment [5]. The socio-economic development of any nation mostly relies on the transport system. From history, it is also proved that the key to the development of first-world countries is the developed transport system.

However, this chapter will give an overview of the e-payment system practice in different developed countries, which will help us to gain some experience. We can also notice how these technologies have helped the countries to practice as good governance. We will emphasize more on the Estonian e-payment in the public transport sector, specifically on the Smartcard.

If we look into the public transport system in the countries of the EU, almost all have the world's best transport system. EU countries have simply had a revolution in the transport sector. As a forthcoming of transportation of Europe, the ICT resolutions are being apparent [6]. ICT application plays a vital role in this case, where eID is a standard example.

In a co-funded project by European Commission, the COMPASS project, ICT is highlighted as a critical element in the full realization of the initiative. The project has identified classifications of ICT applications specifically intended for the passenger:

[6]

- Transportation Management Systems, Supports the planning and management of an efficient transport system.
- Traveler Information Systems assists the traveler on the basic details, such as time of travel, travel-routes, conditions of traffic, etc., needed by the traveler to plan and purchase for his travel. It allows the access of information to the travelers.

- Smart Ticketing and Tolling Applications, Innovative solutions on the dispensing the tickets- buy and pay point
- Vehicle-to-Infrastructure (V2I) applications, Wireless cooperative interaction to interoperate the vehicles and infrastructure based on the regulation of traffic system.
- Vehicle-to-Vehicle (V2V) applications, Collaboration amidst the applications of the vehicles, and the dissemination of the important transport services to the passengers focusing on safety, mobility, and efficiency of the operations
- demand-responsive Transport (DRT) services, Mechanism involving the picked-up and dropped off locations (fixed routes) of passengers.

According to Moroz, OV, and Moroz MM [7,8], Municipal traveler transportation is one of the most critical factors in ensuring a city's survival and effectiveness when linking various areas of the reimbursement into a single complex organism [9]. Today, Cell phones with NFC modules are increasingly being used in conjunction with NFC technology. These incorporate the telephones of notable makers like Nokia, Benq, Samsung, HTC, LG. They permit admittance in a rundown of the latest computerized administrations, for example, - ticket enlistment, which implies intuitive methods for installment out in the open vehicle frameworks; - electronic installments as a choice to money and plastic Mastercards for buying products and paying for administrations. In a few countries of Europe as Russia, Italy, France, Germany, Spain, and Great Britain, and in addition, the USA and Japan [9].

According to a report of 2018, based upon the Kingly city in Rwanda, due to cash handling problems and theft, metropolitan buses were depleted to forty percent of their profits for handling the cash issue manually, and scams and organizations lacked the data they needed to better deploy their fleets. Among a major three co-operatives bus service, Kigali was one of them who partnered with local firm AC Group to install near-field communications (NFC) technology on buses, allowing for 'Tap & Go' payments. Riders can now pay instantly with pre-loaded smart cards and be transported without any delay. And this changes the result dramatically, as, in the first few months, the revenue rose by 140 percent [10].

From research, it is also found that QR codes and RFID cards are also being used for a smart transport system. RFID technology has long been regarded as a significant converging technology

of the twentieth century. RFID's application in Intelligent Transportation Systems is obtaining fame and acceptance under its prevalent usage when it comes to the area of control of the toll and the management of the overall transportation market [12].

4.1 Estonian Public Transport e-Payment

In the digital transport sector, the biggest example is the Tallinn Bus card in Estonia. Estonia is the world's first e-government country where almost every public services are online-based. Estonian all e-Service data are interconnected using one digital platform, x-Road, which operated all the data exchange of existing service and also facilitated the newly introduced service [53]. Since January 2013, the city of Tallinn, Estonia's capital, has implemented an FFPT (Free-Fare Public Transportation) scheme for all of its citizens. The service is operated by city-run operators. Anyone can buy a QR ticket to validate on public transport. In general, the people of Tallinn have a personalized electronic Smart card to travel inside the city free of cost. This card is integrated with the personal Identity Number.

Estonia introduced its first Estonian ID card in January 2002. Since then, we can see how Estonia has become one of the most advanced countries based on ICT [54]. Before that, Tallinn has had introduced the Tallinn card in 1998, which allows the cardholder to use it as a travel ticket for unlimited free traveling in public transport [55].

But what took more interest base on my research study is the Smartcard(Ühiskaart). The green, plastic card is used as a farecard which can be bought from the post office, Tallinn City Government customer service desk, or from any R-Kiosk by costing $\in 2$ and recharging suitable packages [56].



Figure 6. Tallinn Smartcard [57]

Tourists from other countries can buy non-personalized Smartcards also, but they have a personalized smartcard, the cardholder must be listed in the population register. Anyone from EU or non-EU if want to have the personalized Smartcard; the process is similar. [57]. Also, by login into pilet.ee, any allowed people can also personalize by themselves, using the iOS or Android app. People can also top up the card by themselves [58]. The cardholder can upload money for 1,3,5 and 30 days of validation. It is also possible to purchase an hourly e-ticket by loading 1.5 euros in the Smartcard. Each time traveler swipes the Smartcard in the validator in the vehicles. The validator will show green light if the card is valid; otherwise, it shows red light [59]. Like in Tallinn, Tartu city also introduced such Smartcard (Tallinn Bussikaart) from 1st September 2015 [60]. If we look back in the past, we see that the area of Viimsi Municipality was the first to decide not to use paper-based tickets [61].

4.2 Different Countries e-Ticketing System in Public Transport

4.2.1 Belgium

From September 2007, Belgium started practicing the SMS ticketing system as an alternative to selling tickets on the bus and got great success. During the first month of deployment, every day, 1700 SMS tickets were being sold. In 2008 Poland introduced a mobile payment system via Skycash, which is also successful [11]. At first, one of the transport company De Lijn had introduced the SMS payment system. There only needed to send a message DL to 4884 for getting a one-hour ticket and DLD to buy a full day ticket [62].
Also, by buying an Antwerp City Card, people can choose to travel from 24 hours, 48 hours, and 72 hours based on the paid money [63].

4.2.2 Finland

If we look into Finland's transport sector, we will see, they are using Smart card-based public transport fare collection systems since 1988. The Helsinki Card/ Helsinki Card CITY serves as a ticket for unlimited rides on Helsinki public transportation, including buses, trams, metro, commuter trains, and the Suomenlinna ferry [13]. Most of the big city of Finland has a different strategy of the transport system, but all use Electronic Id with the electronic payment system. In general, the introduction of smartcards per se leads to an increase in the demand for public transport [13].

People of Helsinki can purchase an HSL card(this card is valid in the specific area of Helsinki) which is the most popular for Helsinki public transport. Using the HSL App, users can do e-payment and travel around [64]. Even within 2023, Helsinki Regional Transport, in partnership with TVV lippu-ja maksujärjestelmä Oy (LMJ), has planned to switch all its travel payments via contactless EMV. A UK-based transit transaction payment company Littlepay is working on this project to achieve this cashless e-payment service [65].

4.2.3 Germany

Germany also has taken lots of initiative and solutions in the field of e-payment, especially for eticket and m-ticket(mobile ticket). Back in 1998, they have started to develop the contactless epayment system in electronic ticketing. In 2007 a completely mobile phone-based ticketing system was introduced, which is HandyTicket Deutschland. The passengers can buy their tickets and pay via mobile application with any of the payment methods, including credit card, SEPA debit card, and so on [66]. Passengers can purchase a ticket online based on daily, weekly, and even single [66].

Nowadays (AFC) Automated Fare Collection is also introduced MaskTech used the MTCOS technical stable operating system in Germany, which is based on the VDV-KA (Verein Deutscher Verkehrsbetriebe - Kernapplikation) standard. Based on Common Criteria certified public key-

based smart card controller, this standard specifies a data structure and interfaces for fare management and e-ticketing solutions. VDV-KA promises interoperability over the terminal and backend system in Germany [67].

4.2.4 China

One of the world's biggest and largely populated count is China. China has made a revolution in the digital e-payment system. According to the estimation of 2017, China's mobile payments were double than 2016, and for 890 million unique payments, the transaction amount was \$17 trillion [68]. They also estimated that within 2022 there would be more than 700 million transactions [68].

Nowadays days, china has also adapted the e-payment service to maintain its huge public transport sector. There are several payment methods to pay for the travels. In 2017 UnionPay introduced a "tap and go" application named QuickPass.It allows the passengers to pay money by QR code scanning. Smart mobile applications and NFC technologies were also used. The passengers just needed to place their mobile near the card slots [69].

AliPay, WeChat Pay, JDPay all provide the e-payment service, which is also being used in several cities. Tencent, one of the Giant Chinese internet, introduce e-payment on May 8, 2018, on the Shenzhen subway [38].

5. BANGLADESH: CURRENT DEVELOPMENT IN E-TICKET SYSTEM

Nowadays, electronic payment is widely being used all over Bangladesh. E-commerce has been dramatically developed everywhere. As a result, electronic payment was the most important factor. Online Banking, mobile banking is now very familiar to almost every citizen of the country. But as cyber threats are a major issue, still few people are afraid of such transactions. Several electronic payment systems are already known and being used, like BKash, Rocket, Nogod, NPS(National Payment Switch).

Bangladesh Bank, the central bank of Bangladesh, already launched NPS in 2012 [22], but still, all the banks have not yet joined this platform. NPS is a common platform for payment which is a cost-effective and easier way of the transaction [22]. The other system like BKash, Rocket, or Nogod is called SMS banking or mobile banking system. For any payment on an e-commerce site, or recharge mobile bill, pay the electricity bill, people can use these SMS banking services as well as also can use the Online banking service.

According to Prothom-Alo, one of the top Newspapers in Bangladesh reported in 2014, and the online market was dramatically growing from 15 percent to 20 parents, where the engagement of peoples shopping online also increase by about 1.5 to 2 million [72].

Currently, all Bangladeshi Banks have online services. One can easily transfer money from one account to any other account in a different bank and can also pay any type of bill online.

From March 2009, Bangladesh railway has introduced the e-Ticket system, which was a revolutionary step in the e-Ticketing system in such public transport sector. This e-Ticket is a digital version of a paper-based ticket. Passengers can purchase the ticket using their mobile or specific sales point; the e-ticket will then be sent as SMS to that mobile. With the SMS, passengers can go to the station and collect the paper-based ticket [71].

Though Bangladesh Railway ticket is called e-Ticket but yet it is not fully digital. People are still to collect paper-based tickets. The main benefit people get the hassle-free, transparent and effective purchasing of the ticket by online payment.

Taking into account the ticket collections process, Shohoz.com, a European and Bangladesh Investors collaboration, have initiated the e-Ticket Service in 2014, where they provide the e-Ticket facility for Bus Travel on the long route and deliver the ticket to the passengers home [73].

In April 2016, Access To Information (a2i) program did a study based on the Time, Cost, and Visit for Bangladesh Railway e-Ticket service where they found that within seven years, the system became popular among the citizens, and 25% of the tickets have been sold as e-Ticket. They did a study with 384 samples and found that an average of 75% of the time is saved and cost reduced by 84% [74].

Bangladesh, especially the capital city Dhaka, is being populated day by day, and the number of traffic jams is increasing tremendously. For this reason, the Government has already taken several giant initiatives which are under development. Among them, DMRT (Dhaka Mass Rapid Transit) is the topmost priority which will be based on Metro Rail transport.

To facilitate this plan in 2016 Bangladesh government, with the help of JICA, resulted from the RSTP as a metropolitan blueprint for Dhaka with a 20-year planning horizon [75]. RSTP also proposed 2 BRT(Bus Rapid Transit) lines along with the MRT and estimated these would have a capacity of transport of 18,000 to 46,000 passengers in each hour. These both systems will also introduce the automated fare collection system, which will also be an e-Ticket system [75].

6. RESULTS

A strategy for assessing subjective and qualitative information/data is analysis, specifically, a thematic one. It's commonly used to depict a gathering of writings, for example, interview transcripts. It's typically used to describe a group of texts, such as interview transcripts. This study aimed to look at the data and see if there were any recurring trends – subjects, concepts, and patterns of context that came up repeatedly [77].

The qualitative research and thematic analysis were carried out using the NVivo tools for Qualitative Data Analysis (QDA) [78]. Technology for qualitative data analysis is frequently considered to be founded on grounded hypothesis ways to deal with the analysis of data, in which the emergence of the data preceding from the theory, and the software frequently includes "memoing" devices to aid in theoretical creation. When it comes to data interpretation, using a grounded theory approach involves letting the data "speak for themselves" rather than addressing the data across current analytical constructs [79]. Excel software was used to clean and organize the survey data for the analysis.

The data were used for the elaborative statistical study to determine the characteristics of the related variables and any possible relationships between them. STATA software was used to do the descriptive analysis with data visualization.





e Ticket System.nvp (Saved)	Memo See-Also		so Links Co	lı•	O· To Code Code		F New	Word	are With	© - Query This	s,
🖈 Quick Access	Link Link -	Relatio		ipes		o 🖥 Uncode	Annotation	Cloud * Explor		Document	t 🖍
	Files Search Project	A Codes	× References	Interview 1	Interview 2 🗙	Interview 3 [Interview 4	Interview 5	Interview 6		
	Name			Edit Cod	le Panel 🗉 👻	1 1 + O + #	* @ ↓ ↔	*			5
🗄 Data 🛛 🗸 👻	Interview 1	6	8	Description of the state	destates have a series						
Files	Interview 2	6	7			ces payment system i s no automation syste	A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL	e pay money at the		RIPES *** 4	i ×
File Classifications	Interview 3	6	8						Codin	• Cha	
Externals	Interview 4	6	8	Momin: please t	ell me some majo	r problems with this r	nanual payment	system.	• P Coding Density	ential Ilenge refits c ent So	
ORGANIZE	Interview 5	6	11			such as, the passenge to collect a ticket fron			• Prob	Essential infrastru Challenges to impl- Benefits of e-ticke Current Scenario of	
E Coding ~	Interview 6	6	10	to pay immediat		to conect a ticket from	i the conductor a	inter fiding on a bus	Problems in the current payment or fare collection system by	cture emei tsys Fare	
Codes				Momin: What is passengers?	the problem with	immediate cash payr	nent? Who faces	problems for this,	current p	to develope-Ticket system nte-Ticket system tem Collection System of Public	
Sentiment Relationships						blem regarding this.		and a second	aymen	Ticket stem stem o	
Relationship Types				sometimes they	give torn money.	Sometimes it's difficu	It to move with c	ash for the passen	torfa	syste f Pub	
Relationship Types						ystem would be bette	r, as l've said ear	lier the cash would	re coll	m	
🛱 Cases 💦 🔶				recharged befor	ehand in card or 0	IR code.			ection .	sport	
鼠 Notes >				Anyone can colle		e better. This system r 10 days beforehand	and the second se		system	1	
• Sets				for a bus.				×	em sound e-ock		
EXPLORE	In Codes			- Code	to Enter code nai	ne (CTRL+O)			LL	Fo	×

Figure 8. NVivo Tools File View

NVIVO ‡‡	File	Home	Import	Create	Exp	lore	Share	Modules	Code	-	• @ •		? 😑 -	e :
e Ticket System.nvp (Saved)	G⊕+ Memo Link	GƏ+ See-Also Link	Content =	Zoom Quick C Layout		S	nnotations ee-Also Links elationships	l 1- Coding Stripes	۲۰ Highlight	O to Code In Vivo to to Autocode to to Uncode	New Annotation	G ⊌ Word ^{ti} Cloud ⊁	Q Query This Code	¢ F
★ Quick Access	Codes			1	~		Benefits of e-ticke					Sidua		- J., I.*
IMPORT	۲	Name		▲ Files	Refer	•	Name			In Folder		References	Coverage	Γ
🗄 Data 🛛 🗸	0	Benefits of	f e-ticket syst	6	8	Ð	Interview 1			Files		1	8.47%	
Files	-0	Challenges	s to impleme	6	10	Ð	Interview 2			Files		1	4.21%	
File Classifications	-0	Current Sc	enario of Fare	6	7	Ð	Interview 3			Files		1	18.08%	
Externals	-0	Essential in	nfrastructure t	6	10	Ð	Interview 4			Files		2	9.29%	į
ORGANIZE	-0	Executing	e-ticket syste	6	9	Ð	Interview 5			Files		1	0.95%	
Ξ Coding ~	-0	Problems	in the current	6	8	2	Interview 6			Files		2	15.25%	
Codes														
Sentiment														
Relationships Relationship Types														
🛱 Cases 💦 👌		Drag selecti	ion here to co	de to a n	ew code									
鼠 Notes >														
• Sets														
EXPLORE	•				Þ									
			10 <u>(21</u> 0)	1.02010	-	-	an ana a							

Figure 9. NVivo Tools Code Sample 1



Figure 10. NVivo Tools Code Sample 2

NVIVO ‡‡ <	File	Home	Import	Create	Explo	ore Share	Modules	Code		• ② •		? 💬 -	ъ ×
e Ticket System.nvp (Saved)	G∋ - Memo	GÐ- See-Also	0	Zoom <mark>Quick C</mark>	oding		ا ا ، Coding	∦ ∙ Highlight	୦ ର୍ଚ୍ଚ Code In Vivo ରି ରି Autocode	New	کی اط Word	Q Query This	€ F
🖈 Quick Access	Link	Link	8	Layout		Relationships	Stripes		to to Uncode	Annotation	Cloud *	Code	^
	Codes	Q Search P	roject		~	O Benefits of e-ticke	tsystem 🗙						
IMPORT	۲	Name		 Files 	Refer		0 - ø	▼ 00 ₹					5
🗄 Data 🛛 🗸	-0	Benefits of	e-ticket syst	6	8	. File at taken i av 4	5 1 melone		70/ Causaraal				
Files	-0	Challenges	to impleme	6	10	<pre><files\\interview 1<="" pre=""></files\\interview></pre>		nce coded [8.4	//% Coveragej				< Summary
File Classifications	0	Current Sc	enario of Fare	6	7	Reference 1 - 8.47	% Coverage						×
Externals	-0	Essential in	nfrastructure t	6	10				as to go through negotia o option for negotiation.				Relevence
	-0	Executing	e-ticket syste	6	9	this issue. Then ar	n owner can <mark>k</mark>	now about the	total passenger and tot	a <mark>l a</mark> mount of mor	ney. sometimes		8
ORGANIZE	0	Problems i	n the current	6	8				eek with the owner and o sparency. So if the mach				T _{ext}
Ξ Coding ~	0					transparent. If we	think about 1	he governmen	it's perspective, the gove	ernment can easi	y track the		
Codes						income of the ow	ners and colle	ect tax from the	em. This will transparent	ly increase the re	venue.		
Sentiment						<files\\interview 2<="" td=""><td>- § 1 refere</td><td>nce coded [4.2</td><td>1% Coverage]</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></files\\interview>	- § 1 refere	nce coded [4.2	1% Coverage]				
Relationships						Reference 1 - 4.21	% Coverage						
Relationship Types									ernment as you know the		47		
🛱 Cases 💦 👌		Drag selecti	on here to coo	de to a n	ew code				uccess for the gov.	e government is p	oceeding		
鼠 Notes >						<files\\interview 3<="" td=""><td>- § 1 refere</td><td>nce coded [18.</td><td>.08% Coverage]</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></files\\interview>	- § 1 refere	nce coded [18.	.08% Coverage]				
👁 Sets 💦	130					Reference 1 - 18.0	8% Coverage						~
EXPLORE	In C				×	Code t		name (CTRL+Q)					×





Figure 12. NVivo Tools Chart View



Figure 13. Thematic Nodes

6.1 Result

Of the total online surveyed, about 37% are government service holders, and 19% are private service holders, 15% are academicians, 13% are software developers, and others (Figure:12).



Figure 14. Professionals Information of Survey Participant

From the survey result, it is seen that majority of the time people use public transport to go from one place to another. People are so much dependent on the public transport system.



Figure 15. Use of Public Transport System

6.1.1 Current Scenario of Fare Collection System of Public Transport

The inter-division and outside the city public transport services payment system is manual. There is no automation system available. There are some kinds of stuff in every bus (public transport) such as the driver, conductor, and helper.

Mainly The conductor is in charge of collecting fares; he collects the fare from passengers within the journey, in the bus. But in other developed countries, we can see that a passenger has to punch a card before getting on a bus, and after the journey, when he gets off from the bus, he punches a card, and the fare automatically cuts for his certain destination. The fare system is connected to the route permit.

BRTA works with the license, route permit. BRTA fixes a certain amount per kilometer, but the public transport authority doesn't abide by these fare amounts. These things make chaos. It's not like that the Government isn't taking steps; the Long-distance buses, trains, the airline also has a ticketing system. But the local or city service buses don't include these facilities.

6.1.2 Problems in the Current Payment or Fare Collection System

The manual fare collection system has big issues with accountability and Transparency. There isn't a single service that is consistently structured.

A passenger cannot offer the government-set fare since each bus company sets its fare. Since the bus owners have no idea how many people are traveling, they set a regular fixed price for the bus drivers, which creates a troublesome situation. To get more passengers, the bus driver stops the buses on the side of the road. As a result, the drivers and conductors are always in a rush to obtain more money from the passengers, who are not always aware of the costs.

There is chaos occasionally, which results in a serious fight. The Government is also missing out on revenue because they don't have an estimate of overall fare collection. After riding on a bus, passengers must pay cash immediately to obtain a ticket from the bus conductor. It is difficult to travel with cash for the passengers at times. The bus conductor can't give changes most of the time, and sometimes they give torn money as changes.

Staff's attitude is not conducive to passenger comfort. Women, old people, and special people don't get proper facilities. The bus staff doesn't care about them or try to avoid them as they don't have any accountability.

6.1.3 Executing e-Ticket System

The e-ticket system can be weekly, monthly, or route-based, and it can come in a variety of packets so that a one- or two-month package system can be pursued. It would be ideal if it were a prepaid scheme, with passengers recharging a certain amount of money, such as 500 or 1,000 takas. In the survey, it was found that the people use decent money in travel fare every week which can be minimized by using e-ticketing system.



Figure 16. Cost of Fare in Week

The fare can be adjusted based on the distance traveled or per kilometer. The package systems should be simple to use.

There should be a machine equipped with a GPS that can measure the difference between where the passenger punched the first time and where the passenger punched the second time to deduct the fare.

Both RFID cards and QR code technologies can be used, but each has advantages and disadvantages. These scanning or codes cannot be used by people who do not have smartphones. If the drivers' or conductors' phones have an internet system, passengers who do not have access to the internet can sync their data from their phones.

6.1.4 Benefits of e-Ticket System

Passengers will benefit the most from an e-ticket system because they will know the correct fare for a certain distance. There will be no chaos because every bus will charge the same fare. People can put this time to good use by doing some effective works. According to the survey, around 60% of people believe that an e-ticketing system will save them money.



Figure 17. Participants Response about e-Ticket System Benefit

There will be no option for bargaining about fare if a push or card payment system will be used. In a manual fare collection system, the transportation worker plays hide and seek with the owner, keeping the actual amount of money hidden from them.

However, in the e-ticket system, transportation owners can see the total number of passengers and the total amount of money. Every bus driver has a regular target, as they must pay the owners a certain amount of money every day, so they try to get as many passengers as possible. As a result, they run the buses haphazardly. When he sees another bus, whether, from the same business or a different driver, he considers it his mission to overtake it, this will result in a traffic jam or even an accident. If this e-ticket scheme is implemented, these driver races will be halted, and the bus driver will be aware that he is only required to stop the bus at some points, rather than at all times.

There will be no additional passenger crowding, boarding, or unloading. There will be fewer road accidents. Since the conductor must collect the fare frequently, he often charges the passenger who has already paid, so these inconveniences will be eliminated if an e-ticket scheme will implement.

6.1.5 Challenges to Implementing the e-Ticket System

The e-ticket is a smart idea, but putting it into practice would be difficult for the Government. Among the transport workers, there is a large syndicate. For the Government, it is extremely difficult to eliminate the syndicate and implement an e-ticketing scheme. The payment system should be relatively short and simple for passengers to be comfortable in using the e-ticket system. The passenger must be given multiple options to pay; only then will he take the e-ticket system. A regular passenger can pay with a card or a QR code, but a passenger who only flies once or twice would need a simpler payment system. If you are always linked to the internet, the service would be at its best. But it should be kept in mind that people don't always have internet data on their phones. Ensure the terminal system, where the vehicles will be parked at night.

The bus qualities should be ensured, how many years can a bus run in the road, number of seats, seats for women or aged, bus stands, these facilities must be included. Since the credit card is not accessible to the general public, the development of an e-ticket system necessitates the use of a digital sector. The general public is not familiar with advanced payment. The BRT system, Traffic Police system should be organized. The management system should be given priority.

6.1.6 Essential Infrastructure to Develop the e-Ticket System

The infrastructure of Dhaka city is vulnerable. There are no specific bus stops. Another barrier is there is no specific lane for a bus. There are more than 150 bus companies in Dhaka. It would be difficult for each organization to do it on its own. This strategy would be simple to enforce and manage if all buses are grouped into two or three companies.

Bus stops can be built in specific locations and every kilometer, with nice facilities such as shade, seats for travelers, and services for disabled people so that they can conveniently reach the stoppage. Every bus stop should have a bus bay where buses can conveniently park for one or two minutes.

The Government will organize numerous bus control boards, as well as obtain incorporate proposals from other nations.

Vehicle licensing, classification, and RFID monitoring systems should be readily accessible. Locally or nationwide, a route map should be developed. It is essential to create a digital archive. The main priorities would be the route rather than companies because the competition system creates chaos and accidents. To use this system, public transportation staff, maintenance personnel, and owners must be trained. First and foremost, the system should be evaluated. The flaws or loopholes would become apparent at that stage.

7. PROPOSED MODEL

The proposed model is a fully online-based e-Ticketing system. There have several functionalities to fulfill all the necessary operations. The steps are divided into several sections. In general, one person will register in the Transport Portal and will recharge their account with the desired package. Different packages cost a different amount and will have their expiration period. After that, they will scan the smart RFID card or scan the QR code in the smartphone. The Scanning device will verify the data. That is how it will work.

7.1 System Implementation

Implementation of the system required to use -

- ✓ C# (MVC)
- ✓ ASP.NET,
- ✓ MSSQL,

7.2 Registration

To get the e-Ticket system's service, one must register to the government transport portal. For this, at first, there should be a Transport portal linked with Government central database. In this portal, there will be two different Roles, one for admin and another is for citizens themselves. In my initial design, one citizen can do registration in two ways.

Register Please fill in this form to create an a	ccount.
NID Name Phone Number Registraioin Type	Select v Daily U Weekly Monthly
By creating an account you agree to o	our <u>Terms & Privacy</u> .
Registration Already have an account? Sign in	

Figure 18. User Interface for Registration



Figure 19. Activity Diagram of Registration Process

7.2.1 Registration Process for Vehicle Enlist in Transport

With the admin role, the owner of the vehicle can enlist their government-registered vehicle into the list. It means this vehicle will run on a specific route. When the owner registers and login to the transport portal, they can enlist their vehicle by providing the vehicle details along with the license number. Later they can choose on which route they will run their vehicle. After that, they can assign the desired package which they want to offer to the citizens. From the list, citizens/ passengers can choose their desired packages. One thing to make sure that for the same route, the package cost will be the same for every vehicle.

7.2.2 The Registration process for Card Registration in Sales Point

In each government-registered sales point, the salesperson can register any citizen. In that case, a salesperson will log in to the transport portal as admin. If any citizens need to register and purchase the smart RFID card, they will provide the NID number to the salesperson. With the NID number, the salesperson will do the registration from the Register menu and hand over the purchased RFID smart card to the citizen. The Card can now be used as a transport card with proper payment packages.

7.2.3 Self Registration Process for Citizens

This is a self-registration process who don't want any RFID card. Instead, they are intended to use the QR code on their smart device. In the portal, there will be a self-registration menu. After clicking this menu, the self-registration page will open. The person will then enter the national Identification number and click submit button.

At that time, a push notification will be found on that citizen's phone(this phone number must be attached with the National Identification Number) with a verification code. This verification code will then be provided for the registration. If the code matches, then the registration is successful. And if the verification code expires or puts a wrong verification code, then a user-friendly error message will be shown. After successfully registration you are good to go on the next step, log in and then recharge the balance, and chose the package in the specific account.

7.3 Login

In the Transport portal, anyone registered in the system can log in by simply providing their National Identification Number. Once providing a valid NID number, if you click the OK Login button, a verification code will be sent to the person's registered mobile number. This verification code will expire after a certain period, for example, after 60 seconds. Within this time, the requester

has to provide the verification code in the specific field and click OK. If the Verification code matches, then the Home page will be opened. There will be several menus in the portal.

On the Home page, one can see the previous recharge and package history as well as can also see the current packages.



Figure 20. User Interface for Login

e-Ticket H	Home ×	+			
\leftrightarrow \rightarrow C	localhost:44332/eT	icket/Home			
My Info	Package Information	Recharge	QR Code	Bus Info	Logout
	W Personal Inf	Velcome Momin			
		Name: Momin NID: 12334455 Phone No: 0192 Account Create Father Name: Mother Name: Address:	24040903	02T00:00:00	

Figure 21. User Interface After Login.



Figure 22. Activity Diagram of Login Process

7.4 Recharge and Package Selection

To make the system more user-friendly and to reduce dissatisfaction, there will be several packages with different types of amounts. There will be Daily Package, Weekly package, and Monthly packages. Each package will have a specific amount. Also, there will be an option to select a specific travel company because on different routes, and there will be running vehicles of different companies.

So if anyone wants to get any package, at first, the user has to select the company/route they are willing to use. After selecting the company, several packages will be seen. Based on their need, anyone can select the desired packages. After that, there will be the option for money transfer through any online banking. In Bangladesh, mobile banking is also very popular. So there will also be the option to pay the package bill via mobile banking also.

Any user can also recharge any package to another person's account. In that case, at the first step, the user has to provide the registered NID number of that specific account and proceed with further steps as regular. After each recharge, the money will be distributed among the travel company, and a fixed amount of tax will be automatically calculated and deposited to the Government account.

After recharge successfully, the user can use the smart RFID card and Mobile QR code application.

← → C	cket/Recharge				
My Info Package Information	Recharge	QR C	ode	Bus Info	Logout
Rech	arge Your Pack	age			
Enter NID:	1233445566				
Select Bus:	Hanif Paribahar	1	~		
Select Package :	Monthly	```	~		
Package Amount:	800				
Package Duration(Days):	30				
Select Start Date:	01/04/2021				
Select End Date:	30/04/2021				
	ent Your Packag	e	_		
Select Bank :	800				
Bank Account No:	30				
Bank Account Name:	01/04/2021				
Bank Account Branch:	30/04/2021				
	Confirm Payme	nt			

Figure 23. Recharge Step 1

← → C localhost:44332/eTic	ket/Recharge			
My Info Package Information	Recharge	QR Code	Bus Info	Logout
	Recharge Yo	ar Package		
Enter 1	NID: 123344	5566		
Select	Bus: Hanif P	aribahan	~	
Select Pack	age : Monthly	ſ	~	
Package Amo	ount: 800			
Package Duration(Da	ays): 30			
Select Start I	Date: 01/04/2	2021		
Select End I	Date: 30/04/2	2021		
	Check Y	our OTP		
Enter You (OTP: 2356			
	S	end OTP		
	Recharg	e Successful!!		

Figure 24. Recharge Step 2



Figure 25. Activity Diagram of Recharge Process

7.5 Scan Card or QR Code

In each vehicle, there will be a sufficient device. The device will have multiple features, and it will be able to scan the RFID card and the QR code from the smart device. On each scan, the device will verify the credentials of the Card or the QR code. If the passenger scans a card that is not valid, then it will beep. Validation will be defined based on different parameters, like the recharge amount, package expiration, and package company. And it will validate the citizen's authentication at first.

Recharge ID	NID	Package Id	Start Date	End Date	Expire	Bus Name	
1	1233445566	1	5/1/2021 11:31:44 PM	5/7/2021 11:31:44 PM	N	1	View QR Co
2	1233445566	2	5/4/2021 2:53:46 PM	5/4/2021 2:53:46 PM	N	1	2
3	1233445566	3	5/4/2021 9:09:07 PM	5/11/2021 9:09:07 PM	N	2	View QR Co
			My QR C	ode			

Figure 26. QR Code



Figure 27. Activity Diagram for Scan

7.6 USE Case Diagram

Here I am adding the list of simple Use Case diagram for the users in the e-Ticket system. The use case diagrams are intended to visualize the various approaches to explain the different processes of different users of the system.





Figure 28. Use Case Diagram for Transport Authority



7.6.2 Use Case Diagram for Owner of Vehicle: Admin (Transport Company)

Figure 29. Use Case Diagram for Vehicle Owner



7.6.3 Use Case Diagram for a Salesperson in Sales Point: Admin (Salespoint)

Figure 30. Use Case Diagram for the Salesperson

RegistrationType NID Name Include Phnoe Number Include OTP Include Registration Daily Include Weekly Login Include Monthly Generate OTP Include NID Include Bus ID Check OTP Include assend Package ID Include Profile Include Amount Inlude Duration Inclu Date Select Package Online Bank Recharge Payment System Add User Data e-Ticket (QR Code/RFID card) Update Profile Update Payment Generate/Check QR Code or RFID card

7.6.4 Use Case Diagram for Passengers: User

Figure 31. Use Case Diagram for Passenger

7.7 Database Diagram

The overall entity relationship of the database is shown in the below diagram.



Figure 32. ER Diagram.

8. ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION

8.1 Summary of Findings

As I am originated from Bangladesh and have the experience to face the challenges of the current public transport manual payment system, I have found the significant difference between the developed countries payment system in public transport, and that inspired me a lot to work on the development of e-ticket system in Bangladesh public transport.

Studying the case study of several developed countries, I have seen so many gaps and ambiguous aspects which are concluded below.

Bangladesh is developing the ICT fields day by day. The government is trying to provide the best public service and planning to manage everything in a digitized manner. The government already introduced the e-Ticket in Train service, but still, it is not fully automated. E-commerce is developing rapidly, and at the same time, electronic payment is being familiar. People are still not adopted with the electronic service for several issues, a mon them a cyber threat, public awareness and trusts are the top issues.

After analyzing the case study of developed countries like Estonia, Belgium, Finland, Germany, Norway, and China we found they already adopted the e-Ticket system by developing the all necessary infrastructure. In Bangladesh, the citizens have NID card which is very resourceful and standard, but people are yet not much aware of the system. With the NID card, people still are not getting the actual facilities in public service because of the poor infrastructure of the IT sector.

After analyzing the results from the survey and interview several findings came out which are influenced me to develop the e-Ticket system in such a way so that people of all ages and cultures can easily accept it. Still, the majority of citizens use public transport but have not satisfied with the service. We found that the public service specifically the transport sector needs a lot of development. Among them if we can focus on the payment system, it will dramatically change the

overall transport system, as with the implementation of this proposed system, the infrastructure will also be changed.

The proposed system is designed in such a way so that the whole public transport sector could be regulated. People will be more engaged as several travel packages are introduced. People can buy their desired packages so that they do not need to waste money. Especially the payment system will be more transparent and the transport authorities can be tracked easily which will make sure their accountability. The proposed system is about to provide the best possible service in a payment system that is very user-friendly and reliable.

8.2 Limitations and Future Work

There needs more feedback from the citizens as well as the massive survey all over the country, which is currently not maintained. Only a few data are collected to get the overall idea of the thought of the citizens. If more data can be collected then more options of electronic payment can be added.

This proposed system provides a vision, a proposed model which will serve the purpose of the research study but still there need several modifications. The developed system is functional but after further discussion with more specialists, it will be more user-friendly and functional though lots of reflections of the specialist are taken into account while developing the system. There need proper regulations, public awareness, and most importantly a secured internet.

In Bangladesh the IT infrastructure needs to be developed, otherwise deploying this e-Ticket will be difficult. For test purposes, the system should be developed in some specific routes of specific cities to get the results after a certain amount of time. If this system is deployed all over the country, then it will be a total mess.

The survey and interview were not conducted for owners and drivers which leads to a gap in the overall findings. In the future, during the practical implementation, this must be considered very carefully. This research did not found any details of multiple package options in the developed countries. So if there could be found more details of the payment model of the developed countries it will facilitate to modification of the proposed system model.

9. CONCLUSION

The present study has answered the formulated research questions, specifically:

• Q1. How to design and implement the e-Ticket system in Bangladesh?

An appropriate software development procedure was followed during the development of the system. Agile methodology was also adopted in the SDLC process. And the system is also developed with the renowned computer programming language which can be easily upgraded. For implementation, there is a need to modify the IT infrastructure to implement such a system, as the specialists recommended.

• Q2. How to Increase the Transparency of e-Ticket in the transport sector?

In the current system, the owners do not know how much money is being collected. The owner is bound to blindly trust the Drivers and helpers. But in this system no hand-to-hand cash transfer is possible. Everything is automated in the e-Ticket system which minimizes inefficiency, therefore increases transparency.

• Q3. What are the benefits of this proposed solution in the transport sector?

Throughout the system users of any level can use the system very easily as the User interface is so simple. The system allows more extended access to the public transport service.

Owners can save money and time using the system. The owner with the registered vehicle can run the travel business, just re-registering under a specific company. As the revenue will be distributed at the beginning of purchasing an e-Ticket, the government doesn't need to think about the manual collection of the tax. The e-Ticket service optimizes the available resources of the government. As there will be multiple options to choose from, citizens can choose their desired packages which will increase the interest of adopting themselves with the system easily. Providing choices empowers citizens to not only try the system but to sustain the use of the e-Ticket system. While e-Ticket contributes to increasing transparency, the country will eventually realize better transport service for all.

• Q4. What is the suitable solution for architecture and design?

Proper solutions include a serve side software, an application for the client-web, and a mobile application as well. From both the Client web application and Mobile app any user can purchase an e-Ticket. everyone can use an RFID card, using the Mobile app anyone can use the QR Code instead of an RFID card.

The E-Ticket system will open the new era of a developed transport system in Bangladesh. Considering all the problems in the current manual fare collection/ payment system in the public transport system, it is just the demand of time to automate the system. We found that among 100 people of the capital Dhaka city, most of the people use public transport. The majority (60%) of the people want a digitized version of the payment system, like e-Ticket, so that their daily life becomes easier and will save time and money. We also found that the transport specialist, as well as people of different professionals, think there need several major developments in infrastructure as the current infrastructure is so vulnerable. The specialist also thought that the bus should run under a specific company on a specific route. Proper monitoring should also be counted and there should have several financial packages to attract the majority of the citizens to use the e-Ticket system. The interviewed specialists provided a thorough reflection on the proposed e-Ticket system which can serve the purpose of the present study.
REFERENCES

[1] Monika Bauhr & Ruth Carlitz(2020, September 14). When does transparency improve public services? Street-level discretion, information, and targeting.Wiley Online Library. https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12693

[2] Robert Zako & Rebecca Lewis(2017). Better Outcomes: Improving Accountability & Transparency in Transportation Decision-Making. Transportation Research and Education Center (TREC). https://doi.org/10.15760/trec.184

[3] Ballotpedia.Government transparency. Retrieved From: https://ballotpedia.org/Government_transparency

[4] Amina Badzar(2016, May 24). Blockchain for securing sustainable transport contracts and supply chain transparency. Department of Service Management and Service Studies.Lund University. SMMM20

[5] The Economic Times(2016, February 10). Why transport infrastructure is most important for country's progress. Retrieved From: https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/why-transport-infrastructure-is-most-important-for-countrys-progress/articleshow/50865730.cms

[6] Monika Bak & Przemyslaw Borkowski(2015). Applicability of ICT Solutions in Passenger Transport – Case Studies From Different European Backgrounds. Vilnius Gediminas Technical University, Smart and Sustainable Transport, 30(3), 372–

381.https://doi.org/10.3846/16484142.2015.1079552

[7] Maslak, O.I., Moroz, O.V., & Mykola Mykolaivych Moroz(2014, November). Specific features of city public transport financing (Kremenchuk case study). Researchgate.net,160(1), 239–246, Retrieved From

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/297884206_Specific_features_of_city_public_transport_fin ancing_Kremenchuk_case_study/citations

[8] Mykola Mykolaivych Moroz(2015). Defining the term and the volume of investments on reduction to necessary structure of rolling stock of passenger public transport (Kremenchuk city case study). Researchgate.net ,166 (4),235 –243. Retrieved From:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/286125443_Defining_the_term_and_the_volume_of_invest ments_on_reduction_to_necessary_structure_of_rolling_stock_of_passenger_public_transport_Krem enchuk_city_case_study

[9] Boiko, Y. O., Korol, S. O., Khorolskiy, V.L., Kantemyrova, R.M. & Vdovychenko, V.O. (2018). Implementation of Automated Electronic Payment Control System with the Use Of Wireless Technologies for Fare Tariffing in Public Transport. International Journal of Engineering & Technology,7 (4.3),191-195 [10] Ammar A. Malik(2018, December 13). Digital payments in transportation can help developing cities drive economic growth. Urban Wire: International Development. Retrieved From:

https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/digital-payments-transportation-can-help-developing-cities-drive-economic-growth

[11] Policy Learning in Information Technologies for Public Transport Enhancement. (2012). Good Practices - Public Transport Payment Systems. Retrieved From: http://www.polite-project.eu/publictransport-payment-systems

[12] Saeed Samadi(2013, January). Applications and Opportunities for Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) Technology in Intelligent Transportation Systems: A Case Study. International Journal of Information and Electronics Engineering. 10.7763/IJIEE.2013.V3.330

[13] Helsinki Card. Helsinki-Transport. Retrieved From: https://www.helsinkicard.com/helsinki-transport/helsinki-transport.html

[14] Oded Cats, Triin Reimal & Yusak Susilo(2014, January). Public Transport Pricing Policy:
Empirical Evidence from a Fare-Free Scheme in Tallinn, Estonia. Transportation Research Record
Journal of the Transportation Research Board, 2415(2415), 89-96. https://doi.org/10.3141/2415-10

[15] Anna-Karin Carstensen & Jonte Bernhard (2018, July 22).Design Science Research – A Powerful Tool for Improving Methods in Engineering Education Research. European Journal of Engineering Education, 44(1-2),85-102. https://doi.org/10.1080/03043797.2018.1498459

[16] Barun Kumar Nayak (2009, May). Why learn research methodology?.Indian Journal of Ophthalmology, 57(3), 173-4. https://doi.org/10.4103/0301-4738.49389.

[17] Anil Kumar (Jharotia) & Dr. Satyaprakash Singh (2015,December). Use of Research Methodology in Research: An Overview. International Journal of Social Science ,Journalism & Mass Communication,2(2),44-51.

[18] Goundar, S. (2012). Chapter 3 - Research Methodology and Research Method. In S. Goundar, Cloud Computing. https://www.researchgate.net.

[19] Panos Y. Papalambros (2015, July 24). Design Science: Why, What and How. Design Science An International Journal, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.1017/dsj.2015.1

[20] Ahmed Elragal & Moutaz Haddara (2019,May 28). Design Science Research: Evaluation in the Lens of Big Data Analytics.Systems, 7(2), 27. https://doi.org/10.3390/systems7020027 .

[21] Karlsruher Isntitute of Technology (2012).Design Science Research In Action – Anatomy Of Success Critical Activities For Rigor And Relevance. 20th European Conference on Information Systems (ECIS), Barcelona, Spain. Retrieved From:

https://publikationen.bibliothek.kit.edu/1000055012 .

[22] Mohammad Salah Uddin & Afroza Yesmin Akhi (2014,June). E-Wallet System for Bangladesh an Electronic Payment System. International Journal of Modeling and Optimization, 4(3). Retrieved From: http://www.ijmo.org/papers/376-A1015.pdf.

[23] Mahanim Hanid (2016,April 5). Design science research as an approach to develop conceptual solutions for improving cost management in construction. School of the Built Environment College of Science and Technology University of Salford, United Kingdom. Retrieved From: http://usir.salford.ac.uk/id/eprint/32050/ .

[24] Bill Kuechler & Vijay Vaishnavi(2011). Promoting Relevance in IS Research: An Informing System for Design Science Research. Informing Science 14: The International Journal of an Emerging Transdiscipline,14,125-138. https://doi.org/10.28945/1498.

[25] Roman Beck, Sven Weber & Robert Wayne Gregory (2013,February). Theory-Generating Design Science Research. Information Systems Frontiers 15(4),637-651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-012-9342-4.

[26] Emelie Engström, Margaret-Anne Storey, Per Runeson, Martin Höst & Maria Teresa Baldassarre (2020, April 18). How software engineering research aligns with design science: a review. Empirical Software Engineering volume 25, 2630–2660. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10664-020-09818-7.

[27] Neena Jindal, Ashok Kishtwal & Anil Sehrawat (2016, October). ICT, Good Governance, and Development. Indian Journal of Computer Science, 1(1), 22. https://doi.org/10.17010/ijcs/2016/v1/i1/101495.

[28] F. Mahundu(2015,December). E-governance: A Sociological Case Study of the Central Admission System in Tanzania. Rhodes University, Faculty of Humanities, Sociology. Retrieved From: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/145032018.pdf .

[29] Rachel M. Gisselquist (2012,March). Good Governance as a Concept, and Why This Matters for Development Policy. UNU World Institute for Development Economics Research (UNU-WIDER)Katajanokanlaituri 6 B, 00160 Helsinki, Finland. Retrieved From: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/239810900

[30] Saada Ahmed Ali (2017). The Role of Good Governance Practices in Enhancing Service Delivery in Public Institutions in Tanzania: The Case Study of the Tanzania Electric Supply Company Ltd. The Open University of Tanzania. Retrieved From:

 $http://repository.out.ac.tz/1809/1/DISSERTATION_-SAADA_FINAL.pdf\ .$

[31] Richard K. Bemile (2015, January). ICT Usage for Good Governance. International Journal of Research in Information Technology (IJRIT), 3(1), 115-129.

[32] Okeke, Remi Chukwudi(2017,Mat 10). The Challenge Of Good Governance In 21 st Century Africa: A Nigerian Case Study And The General Studies Nexus. General Studies in 21st Century African DevelopmentAt:The International Conference Of The School Of General Studies, University Of NigeriaI, Nuukka.

[33] Grindle, Merilee S. (2010). Good Governance: The Inflation of an Idea. HKS Faculty Research Working Paper Series, RWP10-023, John F. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University.

[34] The Economist Intelligence Unit. (EIU)(2018). The 2018 Government E-Payments Adoption Ranking. Retrieved From: https://usa.visa.com/content/dam/VCOM/global/visa-

 $everywhere/documents/government-e-payment-adoption-ranking-study-2018.pdf\ .$

[35] Victor Lapuente & Steven Van de Walle (2020,May 13). The effects of new public management on the quality of public services. Governance: An International Journal Of Policy, Administration And Institutions, 33(3),461-475. https://doi.org/10.1111/gove.12502.

[36] Pereira, F. N., Alledi C., Filho, Quelhas, O., Bonina, N., Vieira, J., & Marques, V. (2017). New public management and new public governance: A conceptual analysis comparison. Espacios, 38(7), 6-30. Retrieved From: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341555018. [37] Fatemi, Mahboubeh Behmanesh, Mohammad Reza (2012). New public management approach and accountability. International Journal of Management, Economics and Social Sciences (IJMESS),2304-1366, IJMESS Int'l Publishers, Houston, TX,1(2),42-49.

[38] ChinaDaily(2018, May 21). Mobile payment firms eye city transport. Retrieved from :http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201805/21/WS5b022003a3103f6866ee98d7.html

[39] Islam, Fakhrul. (2015). New Public Management (NPM): A dominating paradigm in public sectors. African Journal of Political Science and International Relations, 9(4), 141-152.https://doi.org/10.5897/AJPSIR2015.0775.

[40] Asian Development Bank. ICT in Public Sector Management. Information and Communications Technology. Retried From: https://www.adb.org/sectors/ict/ict-in-key-sectors/public-sector .

[41] Gyan Prakash & Avantika Singh. A New Public Management Perspective in Indian E-Governance Initiatives. Retrieved From: https://www.csi-sigegov.org/critical_pdf/8_71-80.pdf.

[42] Dr. Anupam Mazumdar & Husam Helmi Alharahsheh(2020, January). Digital Bangladesh – Vision 2021: What is the Digital Bangladesh Concept?. South Asian Research Journal of Engineering and Technology,2(1). https://doi.org/10.36346/sarjet.2020.v02i01.002

[43] Kalimullah, N.A. et all (2012). New Public Management: Emergence and Principles. BUP JOURNAL, 1(1). Retrieved from : https://www.pravo.unizg.hr/_download/repository/1-22.pdf

[44] Krzysztof Grzelec & Aleksander Jagiełło(2020,August). The Effects of the Selective Enlargement of Fare-Free Public Transport. Sustainability, 12(16), 6390. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12166390.

[45] Motab Raja Aljohani(2016,May). Change Management. International Journal Of Scientific & Technology Research,5(05).

[46] Prosci.com. What is Change Management?. Retrieved From:

https://www.prosci.com/resources/articles/what-is-change-management.

[47] Maciej Teczke, Roza Sansyzbayevna Bespayeva & Roza Olzhabayevna Bugubayeva(2017). Jagiellonian Journal of Management,3(3),195–208. https://doi.org/10.4467/2450114X11M_17.014.0785

https://doi.org/10.4467/2450114XJJM.17.014.9785.

[48] Shrm.org(2021). Managing Organizational Change. Retrieved From:

https://www.shrm.org/resourcesandtools/tools-and-

samples/toolkits/pages/managingorganizationalchange.aspx#:~:text=Change%20management%20is%20the%20systematic,conditions%20and%20the%20business%20environment.

[49] Forbes.com(2016,August 14). The Big Reason Why Some People Are Terrified Of Change (While Others Love It). Retrieved From: https://www.forbes.com/sites/markmurphy/2016/08/14/the-big-reason-why-some-people-are-terrified-of-change-while-oathers-love-it/?sh=7aad189e2f63.

[50] Nograsek, Janja. (2012). Change Management as a Critical Success Factor in e-Government Implementation. Business Systems Research, 2(2), 13-24. https://doi.org/10.2478/v10305-012-0016-y.

[51] Jalagat, Revenio. (2016). The Impact of Change and Change Management in Achieving Corporate Goals and Objectives: Organizational Perspective. International Journal of Science and Research (IJSR), 5(11),1233-1239. [52] Fred Nickols(2016). Change Management 101: A Primer. Retrieved from: https://www.nickols.us/change.pdf

[53] Valentyna Tsap(2017). Ukrainian eID: its aspects and citizens' awareness towards IT. Tallinn University of Technology, Faculty of Information Technology, Institute of Software Science. Retrieved from: https://digikogu.taltech.ee/et/Download/be8bd10d-8277-4db9-975f-a88261b6f4df

[54] e-Estonia(2017 January). A digital success story: the cornerstone of e-Estonia celebrates its jubilee. Retrieved from: https://e-estonia.com/a-digital-success-story-the-cornerstone-of-e-estonia-celebrates-its-jubilee/

[55] Wikipedia. Tallinn Card. Retrieved from: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tallinn_Card

[56] Taltech.Public Transport. Retrieved from: https://old.taltech.ee/conference/kitab/venue-13/public-transport/

[57] Tallinn.ee(2019, December 31). SMARTCARD. Retrieved from:

https://www.tallinn.ee/eng/pilet/SMARTCARD

[58] Visit Tallinn(2020, September 14). Public transport in Tallinn. Retrieved from:

https://www.visittallinn.ee/eng/visitor/plan/transport/public-transport#one-hour-qr-tickets

[59] Tallinn.ee(2020, September 14). Ticket Information for Tourists. Retrieved from: https://www.tallinn.ee/eng/pilet/Ticket-information-for-tourists

[60] Tartu.ee. Tartu bus Card(2020, July 12). Retrieved from: https://www.tartu.ee/en/tartu-bus-card

[61] ALEKSANDER JAGIEŁŁO, Agnieszka Wojtach, Aldona Łuczak(2018).REPORT Benchmarks for the current public transport systems. Innobaltic. Retrieved from:

http://interconnect.one/images/PDFs/report-Interconect-4-2.pdf.

[62] RingRing. How Do SMS Payments Work For De Lijn Tickets. Retrieved from:

https://www.ringring.be/resources/customer-stories/how-do-sms-payments-work-for-de-lijn-tickets/

[63] Visit Antwerpen.Public transport. Retrieved from: https://www.visitantwerpen.be/en/public-transport

[64] Expat Finland. The Finland Guideline.Helsinki Region Transport & Tickets. Retrieved from: https://www.expat-finland.com/travel_finland/public_transport.html#public_transport

[65] Finextra(2020, March 05). Helsinki public transport goes contactless.

https://www.finextra.com/pressarticle/81728/helsinki-public-transport-goes-contactless

[66] Anne Grünkorn. IntelligentTransport(2014,December 10). Mobile ticketing and contactless payment in local public transport in Germany. Retrieved from :

https://www.intelligenttransport.com/transport-articles/73782/mobile-ticketing-contactless-payment-germany/

[67] MaskTech. E-TICKETING, AUTOMATED FARE COLLECTION. Retrieved from :https://www.masktech.com/E-Ticketing/26/en

[68] CGAP(2019, September). China: A Digital Payments Revolution. Retrieved from: https://www.cgap.org/research/publication/china-digital-payments-revolution

[69] The National Thailand(2017, October 02). UnionPay launches mobile payment in public transportation in 20 cities. Retrieved from : https://www.nationthailand.com/edandtech/30328243

[70] Change Management an introduction. Manchester Metropolitan University, Departent of Human Resource. Retrieved from: https://www.mmu.ac.uk/media/mmuacuk/content/documents/human-resources/a-z/guidance-procedures-and-handbooks/Change_Management_Guide.pdf

[71] MD. RAKIBUL HOQUE, EZAZ AHMED, RUMANA SHARMIN, MEGHLA MAHMUD, MANIK CHANDRA ROY & MAHMUDUL HASSAN (2017, July). ASSESSING E-TICKETING SERVICES OF BANGLADESH RAILWAY THROUGH THE TUNNEL OF TCV+ MODEL. International Journal of Management and Applied Science, ISSN: 2394-7926. Volume-3, Issue-7.

[72] prothomalo (2014, December 14). Online shopping increases. Retrieved from :https://en.prothomalo.com/bangladesh/Online-shopping-increases

[73] Mehedi Shahnewaz Jalil (2016, June 15). E-service Innovation: A Case Study of Shohoz.com, Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, Volume 224,Pages 531-539. ISSN 1877-0428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.05.432.

[74] Antony Banks (2016, June 23). A TCV + Study on Bangladesh Railway E- Ticketing (Online &SMS) service system. Prepared By Results Management Team. Access to information in Bangladesh. Retrieved from: https://silo.tips/download/april-a-tcv-study-on-bangladesh-railway-e-ticketing-online-sms-service-system-pr

[75] Asian Development Bank(2019,November). Proposed Project Readiness Loan People's Republic of Bangladesh: Dhaka Mass Rapid Transit Development Project Readiness Financing (Line 5, Southern Route). Retrieved from : https://www.gtai.de/gtai-

de/trade/entwicklungsprojekte/bangladesch/dhaka-mass-rapid-transit-development-project-readiness-209266

[76] Caulfield, J. (2019, November 06). How to do thematic analysis. Retrieved 05 07, 2021, from https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/thematic-

analysis/#:~:text=Thematic%20analysis%20is%20a%20method,meaning%20that%20come%20up%2 Orepeatedly.

[77] Chowdhury, M. S. (2014, November 18). Sustainable Transportation Systems for Dhaka Metropolitan City:Issues and Opportunities. International Conference on Sustainable Infrastructure. doi:https://doi.org/10.1061/9780784478745.040

[78] Joy D. Bringer, L. H. (2006). Using Computer-Assisted Qualitative Data Analysis Software to Develop a Grounded Theory Project. 245-266. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X06287602

[79] Welsh, E. (2002). Dealing with Data: Using NVivo in the Qualitative Data Analysis Process. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung. doi:https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-3.2.865

Appendix 1 – Non-exclusive licence for reproduction and publication of a graduation thesis¹

I Mohammad Momin Reja

- Grant Tallinn University of Technology free licence (non-exclusive licence) for my thesis "Developing e-Ticket System for the Public Transport Sector of Bangladesh", supervised by Valentyna Tsap
 - 1.1. to be reproduced for the purposes of preservation and electronic publication of the graduation thesis, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright;
 - 1.2. to be published via the web of Tallinn University of Technology, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright.
- 2. I am aware that the author also retains the rights specified in clause 1 of the non-exclusive licence.
- 3. I confirm that granting the non-exclusive licence does not infringe other persons' intellectual property rights, the rights arising from the Personal Data Protection Act or rights arising from other legislation.

10.06.2021

¹ The non-exclusive licence is not valid during the validity of access restriction indicated in the student's application for restriction on access to the graduation thesis that has been signed by the school's dean, except in case of the university's right to reproduce the thesis for preservation purposes only. If a graduation thesis is based on the joint creative activity of two or more persons and the co-author(s) has/have not granted, by the set deadline, the student defending his/her graduation thesis consent to reproduce and publish the graduation thesis in compliance with clauses 1.1 and 1.2 of the non-exclusive licence, the non-exclusive license shall not be valid for the period.

Appendix 2 –Questionnaires and Results

Q1. What is your profession? 100 responses	
Teaching	Î
Banker	1
Student	
Software engineer	
Teacher	
Private job	
Student	
Software Engineer	
Service	













Q8. How much are you satisfied with the overall public transport service in Bangladesh? 100 responses (24%) (21%) (19%) (13%) (12%) 6 (6%) 1 (1%) 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 4 (4%)





Q11. For which purpose you mostly use the NID card?	
Train	
Banking	i.
Bank transaction	
Official	
None	
Bank Account	
any necessary issue For registration or verification	
to verification of anything	
	•









Appendix 3 – Interview Questions

- Please Tell about the payment /fare collection system of the current public transport sector in Bangladesh
- What are the major problems in the current payment/fare collection system?
- As a solution can we use an e-ticket system? Like, the system will be prepaid, people will pay the fare earlier to active the e-ticket and will use a smart RFID card or QR code in their smartphone.
- And how much do you think this e-ticket system will help to save time, money for citizens, drivers, owners, and the government, and ensure overall satisfaction? Any suggestions to develop my designed software/payment model?
- What could be the main barriers to implement this e-Ticket system?
- What infrastructure is required to be built?

Note: Transcribed interviews are attached in GDrive. Please check the link below; https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1yQAs6lFBzzxrjC6182-muTrTzPkALW6H?usp=sharing